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THE PROPLE COURT O GENERAL SE55I0NS, PART I. -
VS ,
JAMTS FALLON. L\\ ?BEFORE RECORDERC SHYTH.
- . i Friday, Januaivi25, 1891.
Jointly indicied with Charlcsrwéldron-for grand
larceny in the sccond degree. l

s

‘Asst. Dist. Avty. Macdonna for the People.

Mr. Hooper assigned for the Defenda +.

A Jury wos cmpannelled and SYOYTe

‘"ROBERT B. HMOUBYPENHNY sworn and cxamined.

taedonna. 4. Where do you live® " Ae o 184 Vest I0th

<

L 3trect.
Did you lose any property on the I0Oth of Jamiary from youy
nousey A. I Qid, two coats, one wras an overcoat and

& sack coat.

Yhere wore they +taken from¢ Lo From my room at the

end of the extension.
Vhen did you discover that lozs, on the night or on the
morning of the IOth% Ae At twelve o'clock whon I

went home to lunch.

When you went out in the morning these coats that you speak
when you came back to lunch %hey vVere
“Yes sir.

What was the value of those two coats?

A. About thirﬁy dollars.
WVhen did you noxt sece tlkr so alfter the morning orf the I0th?

A.  Honday morning in Harlem Brothers.

'f;Angwn shopfonﬁﬁudson‘Streé : A, Yes sir, on ﬁudson St.

A A U2 e
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Who was with you when you saw . thim?
Burleigh.

e is. in court nowe Ao Yes sip.

You went down with him and was shown two contsg?

!

him give & ticket belore he was allowed 0 sec the coats.
Have you got the coat on¢ He Yos 8ir.

¥Where is the other onev . Home.

There was & pevm wicket shown there?

‘And the coats represented by that pawm

fied as your proporiyy se I oadiq,

And that i1s one of them that you have on your back now?

A. Yes siv.
That was redecmed from that pawn shop?

CROSS EXANIULD by ive Hooper.

You say the coat you have on now is one ol the coats that

was stolen? A. Ycos sir.

Wherc daid you get ite Ae Paticr

I mean after tLie lareceny? Ae I got it ot Harlem
8

Brothers' pawn shop.
That same coaty A. Yes sir, this

\,

Were they yoursy A ¥Yes siy, I went there with Officer
Burleigh, I did not set the coats, I simply identified them
and left them there, I got an order from the Court to get

them, I got them through Officow Burleigh at Harlem Bros.

Where aiad you»get the eoat after that?

Delivcred to you by the of'licer, was it? A. Yes sivre

You’never_sav;this defendant ¥allon, did you? ~ A. No, I
digd note 7 " e

A. Officor:

Lo Yes sir, I saw

Ae Yes

Y

ticket you i

yes sir.

son & Son, R206th S+t.

is one of them.

A At my house.
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THOMAS BURLEIGH sworn and exaained.

Macdonna. Q. Officer Burleigh, you are attached to the ninth

preecincet, zre yout T he Yos
Did you arvest this men Waldron v mpleadod with Fal=-

lon heree aid.

On vhat day? : 10t of Januwarye.
Viell, now in conscguence of 2 conversation you had with
him and inforoation you got Lfrom him, aid " ubsequentsly
at the
Vhere d4id you arvcest nhimé
Wha was with you whon you
A. Officer hunt.
Yhere d4id you find Fallon at licillougal Street?
A. I found him in bed.
You arvested him therc and tion
you? fe Yes siv.
.How pell us what conversation if any.

A. VWe brousht iir. FPallon to the station house and

from there we told Pallon that Waldron se——--
Court. Q. When did you arrest him? On

uary.

Lasty
llacdonna, . Vhat timc in the morning was it r. Burleigh?
A. About twelve o'clock, beiween eleven and twelve

o'clock.

Court. Q» Twelve o'clock AJM.? A. Yes siv.

..
ot
)

Hacdonna Q. You testified yon went into his bed-room at

oo}
e
'1!

that mumber? - A Yeg sire




Counse

Mr. Ha

i

it
Tlfxse' co

Did”you tell him vhat you uarrested him Ffor?

A; I aid not i1l we got him +to the sitiation house.
14 you searceh him in fhe roomy 2 ] T adid no%.
Bid you éearch the apaftmenﬁs?
Whéhﬁyéu wore taking him to the sitation
im out did you have any conversation with hime

So I told him then thot Woldron had accused nim of

committing = grgat many Lurglaries on Broadwzy, and Qe
doenied it. I tock hin in the p;Jsenéc ol Waldron at
e Siation Housce and Waldron ic S P had never secn
Fallon beflore in his 1ife, {foung wt Valdrod had
told me was not vrue. |
Aas @Q these bucglarics on Droadway?

burglggies on Eroadway; Fallon then says ———e—-

I move to waika that out.
it Strike it out. Go on with something else.

?allon says, "why that man gave ma & couple of vawn
tickets yesterday.
lacdomna. . Fallon said that { 2o slr, and he pro=-
auced them ---~~ onc of the pamn 5 called Loy two
coats.

L: I object te that, they rust produce the pawn ticked if

they have it.
cdonna: I thoe Court golng to rule that we must have the
pawvn ticket., we will have to get a continuance of the case

b1l Mondaye

art:  If they insist upon it you will.

F: Vie withdraw the objection; he says he had Hho Lawn

.

ticket.

it s i el
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tourt. 2 He gave you two poavn tickets and one oi' them

Y

called for what? He One ealled Tor two conts at

!

Loy, Hudson Street.
lagdonna. 4. Pallon said that pawn ticket was given to him

by Weldronv L. By Waldron.

Whae farther conversationy A. He told me that Waldy ons-
S

court. . Who Hold you, ¥allon Fs IFallen told me

o o

that Valdron got them in West IOth Street,

liacdonna nid he give you the number?

n

'

by 1@ could not recollect tihie munbor.
te the pown offide with lLiv. lioncypenny?

Lloneypemy in diie meantime had come o the sta~

tion houwse and rveported the Loss of two coats; we took
=Pe diomeypenny 1o llarlem's poawn ghop and he identificd two
coats.

Did you take him with the pawn ticket that it is admitted

this man gave you? Ao I had the pawn ticke:r with

me znd the poavn ticket called for two coats that Lir. lMoncy-—
penny identified.

Vere whose two pawn tickets both on ijiarlem?

A. No sir.

Did Fallon tell you or Veldron tell you that the tHarlem
ticket represcnted ﬁhe two coats taken fromm the house of
r. Loneypenny at Woest I0th Strét.

Ao Fallon told me thate
Court. Q. ¥allon said that Waldron got these things in
West IOth Street, the number of which he could not state?

A« He ould not state.

Hacdonng;'Q}’He further told you, do I qndérstand you, that




thesc coats taken from that Place were yeprescnted by thisg

ticket in Harlem's? A That is what he told me,

The other ticket was not for ilaricm's place at alle
A, THe-other tieket was not Tor lan 3 Ve locked

them up.

Did you go o ifarlem's ploce with e, b cneyienny?

A. Yes sirp,

Did you take the ticket that Cendant admits ne gpave

you? A. T took the tickot with me.

Yere you there snown, coatsg resresented by that tickedw

A. I was.

¥har were the coatsy & iy Fere ldeantif{ied by M.

Moneyponny .

What were theys . Ae The two coass,

Whieh ir. Lloneypongy

A, Declaved to be his o solen his apasrtments.

Lid you see tue coat uwpon I Lloneypenny to-day.

Is that one of the coats shown

L. Yes sir.

CROSS EXAMNINED.

Isel.. Q. When TPallon and you had tie conversation did he

tell you whose coats thesc woere? fe o, e did noi.

Diad he tell you where they came from particuilarly ow son—

i

cerally ---- all you knew about tiio case 1is vhat information

i you derived Crom some source and the fact that this man
i
!
"had two pavn tickets whieh he gave you?

Ao Yes sir, that is it exactly.




PATRICK I-‘._AHUNQ sworn and exami‘ned.

Hecdomna. Q. OfTicer I—Iuint, what proeinet'are you attached
to? - As The ninth .pré'c inct. |

Were you in the company of Officer Hurleigh on the m.ornirg'
of th.e 11th of January last in Macdougal Sireet whcfe Ft:‘.l-_/'

s

Jon was arroested? A. I was.

You went theve with the ofTicer to make the arrest? -
:

A. Yes sir.

You went to the station house with them, did you?

A. Yes sip.
Dia you sec Waldron and Pallon confronted in the station
house? Ao Yes siv.
Digd you overhear what Fallon seid to Waldron snd what
Waldron said to Fallon® " A. Yes sir.
What v.ras'it, Jus+t let us Ipary
. A- We gsked Pollon if he ever séen this man before —w-
or asked Waldron if hc ever seen Fallon; he said,b 'no s::.r,
I never scen him before.? ¥Fallon said, vtyes, you did.®
The prisoney ai the bar? A« Yes sir; I secn him
yesterday', he says, "hé went into a house in West I0th St.
and took two coats and pawned theom in liarlem Brothers and
gave me the ticket znd 3I.50 for my share.Y
Did you go to iHarlem's with Burleéigh? A. No sir.

. QROSS EXAMINED.

sel. Q. Officar, whal was this man's condition at
time as to gobriety, was he drunk or sober?

_ A Sober.;-,"

o Pe‘ffeg%iy sobers As Yes sir.




Had. not had mything to drink at all, had he?

A. Not as I know of. ,

You aid not rié?ﬁi'ee any sign of intoxication?

A. No CRLP.
He had not had any dx-a.nk at all as far as you know‘?

Ae. No gip.
Ten't it a fact.tha’_c éithcr you or ihe other officer sent

nim into a galoon 10 get a drink to brace up?

" A. No sir.

Mo sir;

You fd’id‘not‘;’ e he was locked up all

night.
Before he was locked up?

A. Oh, I could not say.

I understand

i zm speaking of Waldront A. Waldron,

Ycu.'
\Ihcre dld you see Tallon Tfirst? A+ In bed.

Yere you :1th Officer Bx;u:-le:.g:l1 vhen be ‘..rv-ested him?

A I wasv. )

And did he deny having any connection with this matter,

any criminal conncetion with it?

~t: What did he say?

Did he deny any criminal connection with this case®?

2

That is a conclusion.

That is all.
That, if your Honor please, is the case for the

quple'.v :

The Cane fd’ the Defencee

the Dei‘endant. opened t}'e case to the
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JAMES FATLLON sworn and examined.

By Coimge:ln.' Q. ¥Fallon, you ave:the defendant here, where do you

y
!
{

1ive? .. = A. MeDougal Streci.

Qe Hovr’_'\’ ong have you 1i.ved in ¥ow York City?

Q-

;

Q. |l what mene A

Q,. Werce you afiterwards arrested?

ets in your possession?

he told me he vwould make me a present of two tickets;

4id not know.anything about them at allj:

lourt. Q.

A ‘Fifteen years.

Have you evex been convicied of any crime?

A. No sir, I never was arrested Befors.

The officers have testified to finding certain pawn tick~

A. Yes girv.

Qe f{%;_(? aid you come in possession of tlemv

J

Ae I met that man in a pool room.

Mr. VWaldron, and when we came oubtside

I

I 1eft him ‘and

wvent home.

You never say him before? A« I only saw him

thxi"tee times; I sot a.cqua:.nted with a man named ilarsh.

By Counl?eJ. Q. And d;r.d he sive you uhOSQ tickets?

As Yes sir, he did.

A+ Yes sir, on Sunday

| mom:.ng.

pon that occasion or a2t any time d1c1 JOL’L aclm:.t ’c.o tis
off;cers oxr say to the officers tha’ he had stolen thn.s
roperty from a place on West IOth Street? o

A NO Si!',

Ltuff.

At ‘the. time that you received the pa'mrn ta.cke*s or at. any

I did not, I aid not- knpvr' that he stole that

b
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: ‘th'a.t is was stolen.

_Ma¢donna: That is all, I pave_n’ot any questions to ask himv._

H
8

CHARLES \’JAL#RON sworn and examined.
sel. Q-, Waldron, ‘you are the man who is incii-cted with .
Fallon on this charge, are you noi? “A. Yes sir,
- You have heardthe tes’r;imony concerming pawn tickets Tound
: :m “his ‘possession®? A. Yes sir. |
Cou.rt Q. Where did you get them? A. I bought than of
é. man named John Trainor, Trainor stole. the goods and '

pavmed- tlem, I knew of tile theft but I did not get them

myself.
Trainor stole thehgoods and pawned tem?’

"A. Yes sir, I asked him .i‘or the tickets when he came
out of tl:ze pawvn shop. | |
Yo;z were with hixn at the t&me that he pawned thom, ybu saw
the goods? A. Yes sir, I saw the goods.

You say you béught the two tickets from Trainoyr, is thal
right, a man named Trd nor? 1;.. Yes sir. |
Yop;'f'iﬁs'ayi_'that Trainor stolco the goods repre.sented by the
pawn Jli;‘i.‘c_kté‘t, and pawned ttem and that you bought the ticket
From f;aino_x-' when Trainor: came oﬁt of the pawn shop after
k’iaving; pawned the things? Ae Yes s.i.r,"bu‘_; I knew
‘6f the theft before that. } B
You knew of }_;hé the £12 A Yes sir, I knew that he
’""got“ them, I did not know whnere he got them b‘e,'céuée‘ I was

: :eull, I was' mo in‘l::oxica-’oed.f that I aia notknow. i

Bt you went with him to the pawn.ghop? |




Fel. Q. Wow daid this man Fallon have any connection with

that 1arceny.or- did he know anything about. there being a
7

lsreény in connection witﬁ, the pawn tickets or the prope,'_:n'a'f.y.

A. MO, sir, |
" ":What Twas your ccndition as to sobeiety that day when you
were arrvested? o 'A I was very drunk, that 1s, very
muach infoxidat_ed- o
You. say now und(-__\rb 'o'a.'t;_h that this man had no ‘knowl edge whé,tw
evéb conccrning the stealing of this property?

' A. He had no knowledge before it ot all.

CROSS EXAMINED.

T.f'.-iacdoma. Q. How mmeh did you give Trzinor for those two
tz;ckets? A. Pifty cents for one tiecket and one
ticket was my own,
Ifow long after you paiq Pifty c;‘:ents fer it Qid you give tle
ticket to Ealloni’ A. I wanted to see if I eould get
.the éoats out and make anything von them by putting ‘c.hém~
in somcwheré else and hec said I could not,»..’b
Court. Q. How m;_:.ch was it you got on tlhem?
A. Three aovlla‘rs.
Hacdonna. Q. Who said that? A. Trainor said, Yyou
ean't got anjr moré; I droia.pcd it and I met this Defendart

in a saloon with anothe r gentlcman. I saia, "if you - .

come outdoors I will give you a couple of ﬂicke‘_t._s"l; he

‘czzx‘ne out and I handed them to him.
This all happened on the night of the IOthe
' A. On Saturday, T think it was the IOth.

t. Q. You d;:.d not get anything 'at all for them? '




o

acdorma. Q,. Hadq you ever seen him bei“o:-e this night"
A. I -saw hin thitee g/m four t::mes.

Do ybu'reﬁxember telling the off‘icer.; when thc./ arrested

you where this mzm Pallon J.:Lved? o A. ‘Not whe ve 1o

lz.ved I told t}fnm where he worked

You told ‘them vhere he worked, that is Wha‘t &ou Swore +to?
A. Yoi Zir, that is what 1 say.
How isn'g 11. Iirue' that when you weire arrested on a.n_othér
charge than the charge of stealing these thingé of ir.
;ionx.ypenny === in Taet when the Moneypenny things wepe ndn_':t;,
thought about ~~— that you tolag the offi c-er that Pallon
was a erook and You $01d him vhere to go and get him?
Oobj ected to on tne grouncl that it is introclucing evie
.aence or anothe«i: arime.
t: It a"‘:[‘ects his credibilit:,{_ in the first place.
.onna. Q‘.' Do you remember that? Ae I could not tell
you Wh"at I said to the officers, I was undes the inﬂuence
of 'li’;‘;udr ve:-y met1 end they wanted +o know il I was crazy;
I recollect going ecast of the +own with them and what was
sgid I ecoula not tell :-/ou, I do no: x-@nember;
You do not knoy this, ‘chat it is g faet that thay came upon
'Pallon Through Jour informziion that you sent them to hig
‘hous'&? - A. T don t know that they got nim ;."'Om infore
ma.tién I igave' they \fantod to-know who the man was was .
wit h me yestcrday. I $0ld them i;l;at he was vrorking‘ in
J;on_’es s restamrant’.’ | ' '
vDid not you cleny all knowledge of h:.m in the statlon houae

_angd say, I never» Knew anythlmg; about him.#

. ,ch'c’t him up thez-e ‘and- asked me_ £




| the man and then T was Pail.

You were still full, you had sleep all night?

A. Yes sgir. .
Court. Q. Did not you know ¥allon when you sapw him?

I~

AQ-»-v?‘lI' did not, I did not know anybody, I was taken “oul.

and drink given me aftocyr I got out.

acdomma. 2. Don't: you know that was the same of‘ficer‘you'

ad spoken to the day befoves As Yes gip,

You say when Fallon was brougsint by some ofTficer you did not

R P S S

Ao That must be righte

know him, is that

YOS the day before this arrest and

HE
sel. Q. Fallon was,
his conversasion with the oflficery T Ae Yes sir.

Counse That is our case.

The Counseli summed up for the Defendarnts .

My MEddonna: I ask thaw the admission made by this Defendant be

L enlarged. We have not got the pawn ticket amd we have,

the pam tickets entitled the  man to

net got the fact thai
the pPossession of these £500dS,

There is no question but that the pawn tickets were in

this man's possession and that they represented theae two

coats.

Mr. Maecdonna suwmed up for tle People.

t
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CITY AND COUNTY | __
OF NEW YORK,

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own™”

knowledge.




o

. Police Court. . 2_ District. ‘ Affidavit—Larceny.

" Gity and Gonty ) , ” -
of Bew Work, 555’ | ' %QW
, . %

of SHo. / K/‘ y %‘W / ad % Freet, aged. /

.

occupation ' : being z'z’uly worn,

deposes and says, that on the ,. & 18y/ at the City of Hew Zork,

n the Gounty of Hew Zork, was Felontously ia,hn, stolen and carried away from the pessession of a?'e;oonent, in

iﬁe..................?._.....h'me/ the following property, vz -

A . Lo

. 7

iria . Pl ///%

the property q}' M‘*—Qﬂf

L d

and thai this deponent

: N hasa probable aa%%d JWW% that the smid property was _/é?om'ousZZahn, stolen and
.l g -\§ s v 8
B 5@ > carried away by 4’-/4 L C—A
.1‘ 2 n .

/.
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~spyp ow diofsq usyny,

bemo- duly examined before . the" under-v‘

'aga.inst

signed 7a,‘céoi"él.i'n{D to law, o
t make a sta,tement in 1e1a,t1on to the charge against hail ; ; that the statement is. deswned to
nable h AM~ if “he see fit to answer the charge and expla.m the facts alleged against hA—v-- ‘
‘that - he -
h M on the trial.

the” annexed Ch'LI‘"‘e, and belno informed that it is~ h.ee rlfrht to’

1s at 11berty to waive ma,kmn‘ a statement and that ~ h AQ/ Wa,lver cannot be used

Questwn What is your name.?
____Azz,swer ZM M %M
'Q_;Z;e;tion. __How 0ld are you ?
Question. Where were you born 7 . . '
nswer. Wm&’é{ (o, %M M M//féé' — - [
| Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided thele? -
snsver V2207 Byt T W
1 Qéesm‘on. Wha.t is your élsmess or profession ?
Answer. jm W‘ .
Question.. Give e,ny explanation you may think proper of the circumsta,ncee appearing in - the’
: testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your -
exculpation ¢ E .
-_Answer.\.

botresiteg tliio




.being duly examined before ‘the. ilqde

et

against

signed a%ording’ to. law,
. -make g statement in relation to the charge against

‘enable h o~ '

that he

| Que .iiam._ﬂh@t_is_XOAmnamf 7

and being informed that it is h 4 right to’
that the statement is designed ‘to"
B

on the annexed charge ;
and explain the facts alleged against

it “he see fit to answer the charge
h -2 waiver cannot be used

is at liberty to waive making a statement, and thag

h ari— on the trial.

L Answer,

Question. How old are you 4

e
/

’ I " Question.

Where were you born ?

- Answer.

yak

Question.

Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer. -

Question.

LI Dzt

‘What is your business or profession ?

Answer.

Give any explanation you may think prdper

of the circumstances appearing in the

Question.

4i

testimony against you,
exculpation ¢

and state any facts which you think will tend .to your |

Answer.

Mﬂm
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L] L/
. N

thereof, I ofder that he be held to answer the same and  he  be admitted to bd_il in the sum of »

wundred Dollars,. .and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

18 ... " . . 7 R X Justice.

¢

have adnp_iitéc,i the above-nained.

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

Dated 18

ing no sufficient cause to believe the within named...
A gz;ilty of the oﬁ"erlwe within mentioned. T ortier
. . : - .
18 .

+




~

©

sy

Dated ...

\ - e
Witnesses.mm
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.indictment,
of the CRIME oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE ( ' DEGREE,- committed

as follows :

" The said A %@&/—Wk/ M

/

e Clty of New York in the County of New York aforeszud on theM

in the year of our Lord one thousand elrrht hundrecl and M_
, at the City and County aforeszud with force and arms, '




THE GRAND JURY A¥ORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

TOLAEN PROPERTY committed as follows:

-‘,._\l‘ait‘ei’of‘ .the City and County jdfo_resaid, afterwards to wit: on the day and in the year
aforesaid, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

: by'a»certaiu person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before

" feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the sai @ jm %%
ceceive and have ; the said %/é/d

then aﬁd there well knowing the
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made.
.and provided, and against the péace of the People of the State _'f New York and their dignity.

Distriet Attorney.

doboe o,
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THE PEOPLE

VS er

JOHN WALKER

¢ % 80 s se ae ae se o

Dear Mr,

The claim of the defendant in the above named au&}ZZLE

That he did not commit the alleged offense,

That in a brawl with the complainant he severely

ge Tor such treat-

i punished the latter, and that out of reven

ment complainant made this false cha rge,

3rds That the complainant is a keeper of a dive at Firsm

Street and the Bowery}and hs wholly wmworthy of credence, f
; _ ’
i

now on bail in $1.000, has amplP_

i e g3 e

Sapport without assaulting, as alleged, canplain-

fant for the sum of ninety cents, (90 )

i

5th. That no examination was had before the Police Magis

trate suchﬁas would have disclosed the true facts of the ea

-

It is on account of the above named circwnstances that ths -

defendant asks, and I ask for him,

by € District Attorney!

the papers to. the Grand Jury and such recommendation thereon

!

as the result of the investigation may warrant,
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sty and County |+
of New Pork, Joot |
‘ of" No. 5~ = ‘:;W ‘ e StreCt, agéd ; _— yea/ké, -

: V8 7o B2 77 8 . o being du&y. sworn, deposes and says;
that on the . day of 0/%’/% 1882 , at the Oity of New
York, in the County oj" New York, : .




: District Polic
TY/AND COUNTYV '
loF/NEW v

.being duly examined before ‘the under-

'/sugned accordiﬁg tovlawl, on the annexed charge ; and ‘being informed that it is hy, right' to
‘make a statement in relation to the charge against hiz¢ ;that the statement is designed to
enable h % if he ' see fit to answer the charge and explain the fagts alleged against h
that *" he  is at libérty to waive making a statement, and that h C7 waiver cannot be used.

against “on the trigl.

How old are you ?

Answer. - ) i 7 ;S

L4 ) i /
Question. Where W@ou born %

Answer. M/

Question. Where do yq%ve, and how iong have you resided there ?

e 3t i,

Question. What is your business or profession ¢

Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in ﬁhev

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ? : : .

Answer.
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Buil

ding in Chambers Street, near Centre Strect, adjoining the New Court

louse in the Park,

‘hand this Subpeena to the

&F When you arrive at the witness roor]

officer or Clerk at the desk.

[ BEE OHER SIDE FOR OTHER DIRECTIONS }

GEN DRAL SDSSIONS

Jn tly: ﬁame of the ?Jso;;[e of the Xf et ﬁurk

‘ t)/ ! /(‘ o : Street

YOU ARE COMMANDED to appear before the Grand Jury of County of New
York, at the Grand Jury Room, in the third story of the Sessions Building, adjoining tEc

New Court TIgnge in the City Hall Park, in the City of New York, on the ~ 2 i
18924, at the hour of 10} in the forenoon of the same dmy,

wot (o0 gy
as awitness ins pl':n%‘ctlon proseoute%f he People of the State of New York, against
g
- C

Daged at tlie (‘n;y of New Y01k, the first Monday of ;7/'—407'
in the year of our Lord 189 @

To

of No.

DE LANCEY NI(,OLL Dzstmct Aitmne _/




The Grand Jury calls witnesses in whatever order its
Foreman pleases. The Fofeman knows best for the public
good. If you wait patiently on the day of attendance until
your turn comes, it may save you waiting hereafter. °

If it is very munonéamﬁ for you to attend on the dny
designated, let the Eﬁzoﬂwbzo;&& Officer or Clerk
the witness room know this 4t an early moment.

If you do not obey this Sibpeens, or do not explain your
absence, the Court will enforce Your attendance by attach-
ment, and fine you.

If you are ill when served; send timely notice of that fact
to the District Attorney.

If other witnesses in this case are called, and another case
taken up, wom mey wuoaln.s_mwm otherwise advised—that
the Grand Jury do not care to examine you ; and you may
then retire, mentioning your withdrawal to the officer or
clerk, v

i

If the Grand Jury n&.o:d_w and you have not been called
without explanation, inquire of the Chicf Clerk in the
District Attorney’s oftice, if you are wanted again and when.

o

o




I have _d}dmitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the iuidertdki;ig hereto annexed
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| )« TO THE CHIEF CLERK.

| Ploase send me the Papersin the Caseof
=  PEOPLE .




@ourt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK,

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of Neﬁ' Yérk, by this iﬁdicﬁméﬁt,

accuse O, E LS oSS

of the CrimE or ROBBERY in the yasn.c.o~~d_r degree, committed as follows :
The 52ld Sy S s oD cnrL
Cad

-
late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the -
Wday of %g—"\—-\& , in the year of our Lord one thousand eight

hundred -and e:e*htzf—,:.._x....:b(.\l in—the time—ef—the-said—day at the City and,_
County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and uUpPon ONE Y Qe Coros %M

in the peace of the said People, then and there being, feloniously did male an assault, and

. . e oK~ SrocaSa. S\ ; k : o S >‘ ';

of the goods, chattels and personal property of the said S ronmcrcn = w
from the person of the 52id "N\ S e B o R DI, ,2gainst the will,
and by violence to the person of the said NN i M'\“

then and there v1olent1y and feloniously did rob, steal, take and carry away,

- against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of
. the People of the State of New York and their dlg'mty ’
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C’iz‘y_.aud County of New York, 88 ; '
. o i ] W mebemg duly

sworn, deposes and says: I reside at No. %h/%

Street, in the City of New York. I am a Subpcend server in the office of the sttnct Attorney

of the - Clty and County of New York. On the 02)/ * day of %7 ¢7 189 3

T called at ‘% J / ,,5/ W
the alleged MM of %‘7“ 4,,(/ QMA%U -

fhe complamant herein, to serve h 42+~ with the annexed subpoena, and was informed by

%%M m% %\//@L/
A ot = Bl

Subpoena Server.

Swom to. before me, this %/A day) .. M % /%

-~ of- 7~ 189,7
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Gourt of General Sessions of the PLearce

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW. YORK. '

THE ProrLe or THE STAmn or New YoRx,

against

Y\.w\.km&l\&w

The Grand J ury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

&\5\«-—"\.3%

of the CrIME oF ASSATLT IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said '\\@4\..:\:5 oS Xres

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

day of v in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

eiahty paa at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon the body of oneM

é by > in the peace of the said People then and there being, with force
and’ 'u'ms unhwtully did make an assmult, and e~ the said'\"\ﬁ-’v\W

éMM d1d then and there unlawfully beat, wound and ill-treat, to the great damage
of the s2id XN o mm o, &W agavinst the form of the
" statute in such case made and p10v1c'1ed and against the Ppeace of the People of the State of

New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL
JOEE=R—_EELTDVUS

District Attorney
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Executive «Chamber
ALBANY

'@éaﬂe %t )
. .,W/z/&/watmn /&76 é’zecw{%ze c/ewzmcy ﬁm//ﬁgy éem made on

‘o am/wtcaanmen{ e lhe

o1 the dlorm

o =TI e el rre clorectod! &y
the @aﬂeunaﬂ wed/wc%&//y lo wegeest tial Jucrswance of Shetron
695 of the Cocte of CGiwminal Frocedlure, you forward to him

@ concise statermert of the facls of the case, logettier: wietly youn

aﬁ'a%ub//& of the 27203225 of thhe afsfilication. e M Lo L o

. S s /&mctww/m&/y aceyaedtea/ that eacs . /eé/wc of enguciy /q’eom
/ée éyxecwﬂde Ghambeore stoutd de de/zm¢a;g/3/ andedered,
Dignen, o5 wed/&ecz}/w/h yomea,

Private Secretary.




CITY AND COUNTY
|| oF NEW YORE, "

) occupation (. L.

that on the
i at the ¢ of New York, in the County off New York,




qli'q'el'courté» e / District.

CITY AND COUNTY)
OF NEW YORK, §°

2/(/& é/g&//i £ //4;/

of No .. A 7 2 /Z) a/l// ( / ‘12/»1/1/- ' Street, Aged%ﬂ Years

Oc'oupatzon D@W D1t bemg duly swoéz: deposes and says, that on the
. dag/ of Méﬂ/@/ 18?&, at the ) Ward of the City of DNew Yo77c

in the County y of New York, was feloniously taken, stolen, and carried away, from the person of de-

ponent by force and violence, without Iis consent and against his well, the following property, viz :

P R A | o,
o W?/ Geed. Lz sl é/Z//kb 22
b %/ /L ;E/Z e.//*a/%/(/,- -4

/7”///44

of the value of /7//7 /Z&////MCHW %v —...DOLLARS,
the property of. JZV/W/M 7

and that this deponent lzas a probable cause to suspect, and does suspect, 1hat the Qazd property was

fGZOWZO’LLbe tak@ tolen, and carricd away, by force and violence as aforesaid by

Ch2rila WM - %/ %///«{/

ém/,cz,u/w acoz/ OS2t itve e L Ba S, Wmf ;
4\274(// o kL. /€ (/%//‘ N ‘57‘34 ‘_m\/‘
//‘/ 28 . . Bacd. AHLTE pd? A 2274ttt M
/7%%(' e MM 54 /o‘Wi/ (220 s ctiidsy,

//%ﬁ/z,/k—-— ceerl, Em/( @W/

s
<
<

Q 0} uLomgy

s

~

C/ “sayp ‘ous a./o‘/lb




bemg duly exammed be

- k agamst

: aLe A’ staterhént m 1elat10n to the charge aa'a.mst h 47, ;that the statement - is. deswne
enable h 1/1,,/, ;f he'- see fit to answer the charge and explam the” facts a.lletred ‘against.’ h%

h VL._., on the’ tnal;

on the annexed chartre, ;and being . informed that it is hﬁ mcrh

is at’ 11berty to. waive mwkmg statement, a.nd that hsg ! quver cannot be used

What is your namn?

Question.

Answer.

%M W/%/

How old are you ?

: Questzon. .

‘Where Were you born ¢

Question.

Answer.

Question.

- Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer.

S P2t

Question.

‘What is your business or prbfession ?

Amnswer.

)M/JVG .

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the .’

Question.

testimony against you, and state any facts which you thmk will tend to your
exculpatlon? -

T Answer.

O g

@Qé&& ~'77%“/@/‘4//(/4 T

/WW

000 oy

/":'f"; s ou

2
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R
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THE, PEOPLE

VS

JAMES WALSH. | BBPORE EECORDER SMYTH.

Thursday, January 29, 1891.
Indictment for robbery in the first degreei
' OLE CLEVELAND sworn.

Court. . What are you? 4. A Norwegian.

@

Mélhtyre, Q. What is your name? A. Ole Cleveland
‘What ‘do you work at? A. I am a stable man. *
Where? A. Portchester, State of New York.

‘And for whom? A. WeS.JTessup.

i
Down.to the 25th day of December, 1890, you were 1n tae

s

1employ of Mr. Jessup at Portchester? ‘ A. Yes 51r

}olnce that tlme you have ben in the Houee ol Detentlon?
\

:A. The biggest part of the time, Ifrom the loth of thls,

month.

Og}ﬁhe 25th day of December, 1890,.were‘you ih tﬁéeéifi'bf}
;Neﬁ:Yofké v‘ A. In the evening. o |

And in vhat part of the city of New York? - A.;ih ML
 berry Stroet, .

'fAﬁd in whoee eoﬁpany were‘yeu? . C Al I came’thé?e

 a1 ne myself I came on the'si;'ofcleck t?éin ih the‘even-?.

1ng and 3 ook the: elevatedﬂj"

.

B frommthere I walked down to

went to 27 Mulberry Street.

~ N

What tlme was that? g~5u‘ A That ﬁas:avlittle;befetei




o

Worth Street to take the elevated station up o 42nd St.
Court. Q. Where were you going td take the elevated, at the
City Hall hereq A. At Chatham Square.

Right here or further up in the) Bowery? '~ A. Up in the

~

Bowery, the Chatham Square station. ;f"“

You walked up towards Chatham Square station, is that right”

A. Yes sir, that is right.

McIntyre. Q. You came down through Worth Street you say?

A. Yes sir.

Then you turned into the Bowery? A. I did not go any

further than Mott Sireet where I was robbed.

Court. Q. You stopped at 27 Mulberry Street?

A. Yes sir, Mulberry Street.
“You left there when? A. A little after eleven o'eclokl

And then what strecet did you take fo get t0 the elevated

railroad? A. Worth Street.

Sb you g6t into Worth Street and then‘walked through Worth

i T Ay S S

towards the Bowery? A Yes sir.

- How far did you get? . A. I came as far as Mott Sireet

and on the corner of Mottt ————ww-

By My, McIntyre. Q. Who did you see there? ‘ A. I seen nobody

‘but the prisoner there, I was walking along with him.

'By tﬁi'cbufi.'Q.‘Whé wés the person you were wélking along- with?

“.A.AThaf person there.
McIﬁtyre, Q¢ .This man here? - A. Yes sir, he was walking| | -

‘alongside of me.

':What did you have'pn your person at that timgﬁ

-;D;dlyou'haye.any'money?f S U 5 had_oné hun




':u
\ N P
McIntyre. Q. A hundred and four dollars in United States

currency? A. Yes, in one pocket and some keys; ‘the
keys went and the bills went.

Court. Q. In which pocket? ”A.}In the left pants pocket.

Was it in a pocketbook or notb? " A. It was jot, it

was a roll of bills with a heavy rubber band one.

Bu;Mr MeIntyre. Q. About what time was it in the night?
N
A. I should judge it must be near half past eleven,

it was after eleven I am suve.

Court. Q. When you left 27 Mulberry Street did you leave

alone or was anyone with you? A. Yes sir. 3

Who was vith you? A. That man siﬁiing te re, theiﬁe—

. fendant,

DPid you meet him in Mulberry Street? A. I did.

Where did you meet this man first? | A. In 27 iulberry
Street.

McIntyre. Q. Under what cirecunstances did you meet him?

A. I was lookipg for a friend of mine that befriended
me a couple of years ago and that is the sole reason I came
into the city at that time of night, and in Iboking for that
man that party there (the dgfendant) was tﬁ:re and I met -
“him before.

" Had &ou drank ﬁith him before? A. Yes sir.

Go on? A. When I went out he followed me out and he

walkedkwith me as far as the corner of Mott Street where I

was robbed.
By ~the Court. Q ““When- you got to %19 corner of Mbtt Street what'wés}

Af I was struck from behlnd.

_I dld'not.'




| ~
: \.,‘v"\ \ S
»When you were struck what occurred? A. He put his
?gnd in the 1left hand pocket and took the keys;
court. Q- Who did that? A. That man sitting theré (the
defendant) . |
Were you knocked down oY not? k‘A- No, I was not knoeck
ed down, i was kina of staggevred;after he tooiithe m6§éy
he ran a short distance up Mott Street; he stopped there
" and examined what he got, he held out his hand and said,
“Ilgot it." |
Did ybu follow hiﬁ§ . A. I aid not.
How do you'know, aid you see nhim? A. Yes, 1 saw rime .
‘After he got the mohéy and the keys he went 5éck into Métt
. street, -this man? : ATWHe went;into Mott Street. ’
Did he run? A He:ran énd tﬁen he stoppede.
Hby’fgr did he go? A. A short distance, probably.half

a bloeck; I could see him plainly holding ot his hand.

And you heard him say what? ‘ A. "I have got it."

Go on, what next? A. I took a room dowh at 173 Park '

ﬂRow, that is the next thing I dida, ity head ﬁas very soré ard

my>head was bleeding.
MeIntyre. Q. That did you say you did afterwards, you took

a room aia I understand you to say? A. Yes sir.

‘wt. 175 park RowZ: A. Yes, Park Row. “

When»he:held up his hand and said, "I have got 1it", aida you

theﬁ pursue him, aid you go after him?
‘A. No sir, I aid not, I was stunned.
m?bﬂffmbney7was gone? - - A Yes .8ir.

nis handwin”youp pqqkét taking out yourlgéys gnd;l




The party who struck you was it the prlsoner at the bar or
‘someone else A. It .was not him that struck me, it
was a' ‘party that I do not know, I saw two fellows behind
‘me, that is all I know.

Court. Q. Two fellows were behind you® A. Yes sirt
Was he one of the two? .o No sir, he was wé.&ing
aloﬁgside of me. |

JWhat were you struck with, do you know?

A: I do not know.

What was the effect did it cut your head? A It cut my

head, I had a deep gash in it, it has conmenced to heal @p‘

i

nowe ' o v
Did it bleed mueh? . A. Yes, it ran down my neck a
Aittle.
McIntgre. Q. I underétand you to say your hegd'was,cut aﬁd
it bled? A Yes sir.
fDid you see where thelpriéoner went to after he held up
his hand and stated to you that he had got 1it?

A. I did not; he ﬁémooed to the oile r fellows that
was behind.
‘When was the prisoner arrested do you know, was he arrested

: on.your complalni? o A. Yed siy, I had him arrested my-

When?  A. On the 1lth day of Jamuary.
_Where did you meet him? 'A. I saw him going dowvn“~in a

dlve in Park Street with a woman.

ou called an offlcer and had h1m arrested? 'A. I went up

N T




ourt. Q. That was on

-oYeloek? A. Yes sir
What time was it when you

A. I would judge about
Were you‘soﬁer t@en?
And this money that you had,
of”that?
Were ydqrdischarged’by My
was it wages that
own earned wagese
vYou had it in

Did you have more money than

How mmich more?

A

1 came in.

1

t was in another pocket?

What pocket was it in?

vou then went after you say

/Row and took a room there and

A. Yes sir.

When did you tell the police

‘morninge.

What station house daid you go

street station. .
You madc . a complaint?

1

Dpiad you desecribe the man

. Did.you state there_what had

pstood you to say you k

Ohristmas night

A
Jessup?
you had earned?
your pocket you say?

i had s

was

i

it;,at eleven

were knocked down?
v

“a quarter .past elevens
Yes '8ir.

how did you become possessed'

A. I was working for it.

A. No sir..

A. It was wages, my

A. Yes sir.

that? A. I did.

even dollars in silver when

£ .

Yes sir,

4. The pantaloons pocket.

you were yobbed to 173 Park

went to bed, is that right?

about this? A. Thernextﬂﬁh

t0? Elizabeth

A. Yes sir,

A. I aia.

been done 1O you?

new this man before thi




%& N o T
September, the 18th of last September.

*Where did you see him then? A. I met him at the cor-

ner of Pell Street and Bowery, him and a coaple_of-qtﬁer

men. !

-

Onl& met him casually in the streéi, is that all?

A. Yes sir.M
Did you drink £6géther? A. He asked me for a drink
and I asked him in and a friend was with him, there was
three or four.
He asked you to give them a dyrink?
give them a drink.
You aiaz ~  A. I did.
‘This night when you say that you were knocked down in this
.way, how long were you in 27 Mulberr& street before you
left to go out? A. I was in. 27 Malberry Street not
more than twenty minutes. | )
bid you have =z drink there? A. I had a cigar there.
Did you take out your money? A. Not the Bills.
Yoﬁ +oolk out the change? A. The change that'I had.
:Ané paid fof the cigars? A. Yes sir.
Dig you. treat anybody then? A. I daia.’

Who? A. This men and several others.

You treated them t0 what? A. Treated them to whatever

they wanted.

1 don't know whét, they keep 2ll kinds of things in Mulberry

‘Street. A. They keep liquor amndl beer.

You trcated them to drink and paid foxr 147

ki Yes siv,




A ' . e
Whé did you expeet to meet .in Mulberry Street, somebody

you say befriended ydu? e Yes sirvr.

What is the name of that friend? A. His name is
Gruber. v
John Gruber, is that right?- A} Yes‘éir, ﬁhat
right.

Who is John Grubexre A. He is a man who gets money
\regularly from the 01ld Country and when that money lasts
he liyes pretty fast and then when his money is gone he

goes and earries coal for a living.

Mr. Gruber gets an income from the other side of the water,

i
‘

where, Norway? ‘ A. No, from Germany, he is a German.
And he lives very well while that lasts and goes and shov;
elé coal uptil he gets mofe money, is that right?

| A. Yes sir. |
'You knew this man A. Yes sir.
'He had befriended you? . - A. I had my ankle sprained last

New Years.

Hot last Mew Years? . 4. No, the one Eefore that and
he helped me along then when I was siek.

How do you mean he helped ydu? A. Giving me money,
what;ver he could do for me. l ”

"So:he gets something ffom his people on the o@bgfaside, is
that'righﬁ? A:uYes'sir, he doeé.

You went. to look for him? A- I did.

Did you find him? A. I did not.

That is what took you to Mulberry Street? . A, Yes sir.

,.Hpidtyoﬁféxpect to find him in 27 Mulberry St. A.Yes sir.

fA;QHe;mqstly‘pangslérdund'thgrefj




CROSS EXAMINED by COUNSEL.
Where did you come from when you came to New York‘City?

A. Portfhester.

How far is that from New York city? A. About twernty-

six miles.
\gdw long had you been ﬁorking out there?
' A. A year ago lasthugust.
ADid yoﬁ work from a year ago last Ausust up to the day
that you eame 0 New Yérk city steady? A. Yes sirv.
When»last were you here? A. I was~hgre in Septembefk
Whattime in‘September? A. I was here on the 18th of?
Séptember,'my birthday was the 17th.
How long daid you remain here then? . A. Two days.
What part of fhé éityVWere you in? A, I.was in
~Mﬁlberry Street/ uptown all over the city.
Thernn you went back to P&rtcheSter and worked in Portchester
from that tiﬁe_up to the presént?' | .A. Yes.
What do you work at? _ A faking care of horses, I have
got charge of that stable.
How ﬁﬁch do you get a'month? . A. I got ten dollars
é wéek and a sledping»apartment. ‘
Ybﬁ‘héve to pay Ffor ybur eating out ofAthat?

A; Yes sir.
About how‘much do you pay? | A. Three dollars a wee}.

I- That leaves you twenty-eight dollars a month?

A. Call it thirty.

' Whgi time‘did you get to New York city that evening? -

.seven o'clock.




What time did you stop working that day? AL About

helf past Tive, I had my work dont up at that time.
Did you have any Arink in_Portchester? A.'No sir.

s

N

"Did not drink anything at all? A. No sir., ‘-

You do drink, don't youv A. I do sometimes, yes sir.
Beer; wvhiskey and brandy? . A. Yes sir, anything at
ail when I drink.

When~y6u came to.New York city that evening where did you

go to at first,“where did you .land? A. No. 25 Hulberry

[
1

Strecet was the fifst place 1 went into. i

What train did you come in by? A. On the six o';lock
train, in 42nd.Street, Grand Central Depotb.
By the dogrtliQ. You came on tﬁe Hew Haven Road A. Yes sir,
_on the iMew Haven.
By Cogmself'Q. How did you go from thevre? A. I took the ele=—
’ vated station down to Chatham Swuare. .
Did you have anything to drink up a2t 42nd Street?
A.. No sir.

Where aid you get off on the Bowvery? A. Chatham Square.
Diad you have anything to‘drink in the Bowery?

A. No sif' ) |

Did not have a drop, did not go into-any liquor store at

all or beer saloon? A. Mo sir.

Or any placée where liquor wr beer or wine of any kind was

- s8014? - A Noisir, I was not.
‘Did you go right to Mulberry Street? - A. I went right-

.25 Mulberry Street.

0.y ou know there? I knOW‘séggrélmihéfeg

A: T do'not know .ary of




Where did he live? 2. I do not know where he lives.

You came to New York city to look for John Gruber?

A. Yes sip.

You do not know where John Gruber lives? A. No sir, I

knowed he used to stop at theBismark House, a cheap lodging
house when he was hard up, at the cor nexr, of Worth and Mul-

bemry Streets.

Hoﬁ‘long ago since he stopped tle re? A. That I eould

not tell you.

Did you go the Bismarck House when you came the re?

’

A. No sir, I Qdid not.

Q. You did not &0 there to look for him? -A. No sipy.

Dld you expeet to find him at 25 Mulberry Street?

Did not you saya short i me ago you did not know where he

- “Q'.

1K
A. Yes siy, ' .
E

llved"
The'po t; He said he kjew he hung around shere.
: Ey‘éo msel. Q. Do you know any Persop who lives in 25 Mulberry St.
' A. I know the. proprietor Martini or something like that,
I-do noﬂ know fhe 6ther nane, he is in the liquor bu31ness.
Did yoa go into h1s 11quor s‘t'.ore‘7 . A« I did.

How long had you Been acgualnted with h1m?

A. Probably three yeaws.

Where d1d you 'get acquainted with him?
A By going into his Place.

VHow many timeso A. I have been in a good many . tlmes,

I could not state that for a certalnty.




You were in the city in the month of May?
How" long had you peen in the city then?

two weekse

You were not doing anything? A. I left with +he un-
derstanding I can come back again whenever I wish to.
vou came down to fhe city 1o stop two weeks?

AN
A. Yes sir.

Did you meet KMy. Gruber when you were in the city in May®?

A. Yes sig.

Did you see Gruber and where? A. I aid, in 25 Mul-
beryy streete. |

Was he 11v1nﬂ in 25 Mulberyy street? A. No, he did

not 1live there, there is no sleeping apartment there,
there is nqthing bu% a ligquor store.

Where aid he live then? A. I did not ask him where
he was living.

Did not you learn where he lived? A; I told'you that

1 knew he had becn étopping in a cheap lodging house that

they call the Bismarck.

'When'did you 1eérn that he stopped there? lA-HLast win-
iLer he was stopping there.

What time last wintef?' ’ A} He was there New Years
time, I.géé in at Ne; Years day.

Did you -get that infofﬁation Neﬁ Years? "~ A. Yes sir.

Anélﬁefe you in the c¢ity then last New Year s¥ A. I-was.

You were here in ¥May and,September, 4+ at makes four time5 

”year I call that 1ast year Neu Years day.

w1th1n a year you have been in the city?- A' That=is noth




I'an speaking of aast year, you were in thé cityvthen?

A, I was.
How 1ong.did you remain then? A. lwo dayse.
Where dld you stop the n? ) A. I- thlnk 1 was stopplng,
at 173 Park Rowy L always stop thore if I am going down~™
_town. ~
Bid you meet Gruber thené A. I did.
Where-@id you meet him? A. I met him in 25 MulberrySt,
Last New Years? - A. Yes sir, last New Years.
How long did you remain at 25 rulbevrry Street that night

after you went there before you left 1it? | A. This 1as£

il v
W
1.

time yoa mean?
Yes, thls last tlnm? A; I was there Trom seven o'c;ock
tlll a 1ittle after ten.

;Did you drink anything while you were there? - A. I Aid.
>Whatg§id you drink? . A. I arank soda water and two
glasses of California red wine.

Nothing else? ,. A. Nothing else.

Did you leave there at half past ten? A. Yes sir,
Where did you EO 1o from there? - A. No. 27 Mulberry Ste
Wéé that a mlquor store? T A That is a liquor store.

Had you anything to ‘drink While you were in there?

A. I had a cig;}.
'Did you have anyihing "c,obdrink_ui'n the re? A. 1 did not.
How long did yoﬁ remaln there? A. I remained there

-tili'a little after eleven O clock, probably a quarter past

S




Ak
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'Did you go into No. 90 Worth Stheet? A. No sip,

o

Are you sure about that? ) A T am‘sure of.thatg

oo

S

Just think for a moment, did you not go‘into No. 90 Worih

Street? A. I did not.

-

~

Did. you not go into No. 90 Worth Street and cail fér drinks

I e

there? A. No sir, I did not.

Are you a married or single man? A. I am a single

man.

What did you come down. to the city last New Years for?

A. I always keep New Years day. i
1
(

What did yoa come ‘down to the ¢ity for ‘in the month of,mayV

A. The job did not qgite satisfy me and I thoﬁght I
could better myself, I have been railroading in the city
before, I thought I would get on the Seventh Ave. railroad.

You made an agreecment if you wanted to you could go back

again to Portchester) A. Yes siv.

What did you come down in September Tore AL My birth-

day was the 17th, it was raining that day and so I took the

18th.

Court. Qe Is that the cut on the back of your head that you

got° E A. Yes sir.

Turn your head and let the Jury see, that is the cut you

w

“got -that night? A. Yes sir.

Were you ever in No. 26 Mulberry Street last May?

A. I do not know the place 26.

Were you in any place, in a llquor store lust May where

there was a row tne time you were in- here before2

I was 1n no: other liquor store‘that I can’ rememberff

,I_Qid.not frequent;gny




. Q’v.

‘The Coﬁrt:" Excluded.

j Thé Cdurt: Excluded; do not answer till I tell you.

By Coumisel Q. The night you say he was walking alongaide of you

Court.Q. He wants to know if there was a row in any of‘thém

last May,when you were there? A, That I do not rec-—

olleet; there is often a row in these places.
sel. Q. You do not know,whether there was a row in this/i*
place and someone sitruck you, do you? A. There was

nobody struck me then.

“No. 27 Mulberry Street.

And you and he spoke $o each other immediately,‘didn't y&u?

‘gave him a quarter besides.

Did anybody strike you at any time during last May while
you were in the City? M. No sir,
Did anyone strike you in any ligquor store or beer saloon

|

- 3

last May in Mulberry Sireet. A. No sif_ L
Do &bu recolliect being in e sgme place with the defendanti
at.the same'timeé | A. I have seen him, I do not know
whether it was in May I saw hi m or not, I saw him many‘

times." o :

Wére'you not in there one time when there was a quarrel?

A. That might be.

where did he and you meet that night? A. We met in

What time? A. A little after eleven o'clock.

WVere ydu_in Mulberry Street before him or he before you?

A. He was there when I came in tle re.

-

“A. Yes sir,

Didfyou’have any drinks together? A. Yes sir, and I.




Ty
' A

That was the last plac

£t

that you were in HMulberry Street?

A. Yes, that was the last place.

Did you drink thore? A. I hadia cigar there.

.Dia not you drink anything? A. I did not, not in that
’ : . ) //' N

/

place. . ' Ll

_You‘and he walked out together? A. Yes sir.

\hnd went down to the corner of where? A. Corner of
Mott and Worth Streets.

" Were you walking toéether ét the time? A. Yes sir.

Whicﬁ way were you going? - A. I was facing up towards}
: . i
%
i

Chatham Square elevated station.
Ybu 2nd he were looking to the front all the time, were youl

A. We were walking together chatting along as we were

walking.

xAnd_;ﬁé‘first thing you knew yoﬁ wéré struck in the back

r?f‘the head? A. Yes sir, and the next thing I knew
was his:hand ip my pocket, he took the keys and my money;
When you were strﬁck on the head you were dazed, weren't

you? A. I was, partly; '

Dazed somewhat? _A. Partly.

Then after you were struck you say you saw him put his hand

into your pocket and run? ' A. Yes sir.

w

How far did he run? - ‘A. A short distance, probably

2

half a block snd then hé stopped.

‘And-heid up his hand you say and said, "I have got it"?

A. "I have got it."

EAnQ”stcod‘there perfectly stille ‘ " A. He stood there

| perrectly stiil.




You di'd not attempt to Follow him ¢ *  A. I did“hot

think it would be worth while infthe street I was in.

By My ngntyre.vq. When you were haﬁ&ng a drink in the first in-
<

stahcgrwith the prisoncy at the bar did you tell him or -
‘show him the amount of money you had on your person?

A. I did not.

JOHN FARRINGTON sworn and examinea.

Athtyfe. Q. You are a police officer connected withywhat
precinct? A. The 20th.

Do you remembef arresﬁing the prisoner at the bar upon tle

compléint of the cdmplainantfhere? A. No sip,

Court. Q. Did you arrest him? A. I did not arrest

hime.
Mcihtyre.Q. What do you know about this case?
A. At the time I was ward detective in the sixth pre-

cinet; +this was reporied there, I was on the case for two

weeks and while out one day this man came to the station
house.

Complaint was made at the statioh house by this man? .

ERRRTASe

A. Yes sivr.

‘What statibn house? - A. Elizabeth Street, I was-deé

“tailed.

-

;. Did he tell'you who'had assaulted him? A. Yes sir,.

'aﬁéegaYe a description of the man the first day. he camelandf
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You did not arrest this man? A. No sir,
That ended your business with this case?

A. Until the prisoner was brought %o the Station House.

When was the prisoner brought to the Station House,‘you

s
/’ N

/

were there? A.I was. _ Fee

'W%at time was it? . A. On a Sunday.

What day of the month? A. January 13, I think.
ou%p. Q. Then was he brought to the Station House on the
same day the complaint was made? A. Yes sir.

That was the 13th of January? A. The day before the 3
complaint was made, the 12th of Jamary, he was over to tha&

Stafion House and the 13th he was brought to the Tombs Po-
llce-court. %Z;am@wuiééﬁ(

By what officer? ‘ A. Officer Grandall. F\\

Was he taken to Court? . A. Yes sir, ‘

deIntyre. Q. What occurred % A. I asked the prisoner
what he had to doiwith this or if he had done it. He tola
me that he had been drinking with thi; man but that he had

{i not robbed him, he had been drinking with him in No. 2%

Malberry Street and that he left with two othef men,
complainant left with two obher men.

Court. Q. Did he tell you the names of the other two?
A. No sir, Ee did not, I asked him for the names

-

them, he said he did not know it.

.

Between the time that the complaint was made at the sta-

tion house and the 12th of Jamiary when this man was Brougu_

*in'were you looking for him? : A. Yes sir.

' You did not find him. ? . A. No sir, I looked in all of.

ﬁ\attis;where.We were told he was in the habit

s v
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el. Q. Officer, do you remember whethei or not the Defend~-

s A

ant told you he was in No. 90 Worth Street with the com~

Plainant? A- No siv, he 4id not.

ntyre: That is the ease for the People.

s e B S e

THE CASE FOR THE DEFENCE .

JAMES WALSH sworn and examined, testified:

isel. Q. Is that your right name? A. That is my right

name, that is what I was christened, born and brought up to

Were you in the company oi‘thls man at the time he says

that ' was robbed? .A. No sir,

Did you see him robbed? A. No sivr, I did not.

Did you have anything to do with the roﬁbery,either ai-
recetly or indirectly? A. Nothinglat all.
Or did you know anything about it? A. I did not know

one bit about it until I got accused for it en the follow-

ing Sunday.
Vhere Wefe'you living at the time that he states he was
robbed? A. I was living within half a block,

-Eclipse House, No. 7 Ehatham Square.

How long had you been there? A. I have been there

about over two months.

You were after getting over a sickness¢? A. Yes sixr, I

was after getting over a sickness, I generally get pains in
»the head and I have them always, I have been attendlng the

‘fhospltal.

iWhen was the flrst time that you met the complalnant 1n k)

\
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When is the firsi time you met the complainant, the man on

>

the stand making the charge against you? A. A year ago

last May. ,

v

You are sure about that? A Iam sure I met him.

Where did youwnneet him? A.. I.met him, I was drinkihg

glagss of beer, threc cent beer what they sell in Mulberry

Street and he came in; he says to me, "will you have a
drink with me?" I says, "thank you, I am mach obliged to

you'"; he was a stradnger to me then; I said, "I am having

a drink now? he stepped in with a lot more of his country-

e t
men. . , H
) Not @

Court.Q Did you take a drink with him:? A.\Last May;I

did the Chistmas time he is talking about.

Did'you decline it? A. I declined it because I was
drinking myself.

i You had enough? A. I had enough, I did not want any

nore.

Was that the first time you ever saw him? A. That was
AN .

the first time I ever saw him.

What was the next time you saw him? A. The next time

I saW him was Chiistmas night.

Fourt. Q. Was that last Christmas? A. Christmas night.

msel. @, Did you see him at any time or in any place where
there was a row, & quarrel? " A. Yes sir.

Where was that? A. Last May, I think it was 27 Mul-

berry Street. ‘
 Th?t is last May, 1890°? © A. Last May of all.
ﬁqu‘hQTin‘ﬁhat‘quarrel? A. It seemed he was, when he

b his hat?wasidff‘ahd‘he,Camewtq mexand'hefééidLQQ;Q




NCqurt. Q- There might be thirty rows in No. 2% Mulberry StL

and a man mlght get his hat knocked off without belng in a

row, . i‘ 1s not an unusual occurrence 80 on?

A. He came over to me and he had his hat off' he

N

said, "it was you hit me. " I says, "what would I hiﬁ“you

B TSN

for? ' You asked me not half® an hour ago to drink with you,

\I'have no animosity against you, in fact you are = strangex?
He said, "I was told you did --- never you mind, I will
get square with you.if it was ten years 4o come. "

What did you say to that? A. I says, "there is no;

use to have spite in for me, my dear man, I never done

nothing to you in my llfe". and he went away.
sel. Q. You had no cause of quarirel? A. No sip.,

Come right down to the time of this océurrence?

A. The next time_l saw the man after that was on

Christmas night
Where? "’ A. I met him corner of Worth Street, I was
standing beside Mr. Sullivan's oyster stand, he came along

and he says to me, "hello, how are yous" I says, "fine,

"how is yourself.n He.says, "come in and have a drink with

me. " With that we went in; there was three more young

fellows ecame in and they went up to the bar, I had one glass

w

of beer off him there and he hau a glass of beer. This

fellow's name was ‘ealled Tony; it was not at ten or eleven

o'elock, it was half past eight in the evening when I first

»met him, when 1 went -in there. . HevsaYS to'me,_"dld you

see thls John around?" Some fellow he called John

5 "no, I have not' seen hlm. He Sald Vwill youfébme

aid, "no, Irdou]




